
CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS MEETING AGENDA 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET, DAPHNE, AL 

                                                                        DECEMBER 17, 2012 

                                                                                  6:30 P.M.     

 

 1.  CALL TO ORDER 

 2.  ROLL CALL/INVOCATION / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE    

3.  APPROVE MINUTES:     Council Meeting Minutes / December 3, 2012  

                                                  Council Work Session Minutes / December 10, 2012 

                                                    

MOTION:  To authorize resumes for the position of City Judge to be accepted by the City Clerk’s Office   

                     with a deadline of January 2, 2013     

 

MOTION:  To authorize the advertisement for the position of City Clerk                          

 

4. REPORT STANDING COMMITTEES: 
    A.  FINANCE COMMITTEE -  Conaway 

          Review minutes / December 10
th

  

a.)  Ordinances:         

1.)  Appropriation of Funds:  Sidewalk Improvements for FY2013 / Ordinance 2012-72 

 

b.) Resolutions: 

1.) Agreement:  Connecting to the County’s Fiber  

 

c.)   Financial Reports:  

1. Treasurers Report / November 30, 2012 

2. Sales & Use Tax Collections / October 31, 2012 

3. Lodging Tax Collections / October 31, 2012 

4. Lodging Tax Financial Statements / Allocation Breakdown 

5. Capital Projects Fund Reserve Fund Balance / September 30, 2012 

6. City Communication Tower Revenue Report: FY2003-FY2012 

 

    B.  BUILDINGS & PROPERTY COMMITTEE -  Haygood    

          Review minutes / October      

      Review minutes / December 3
rd

 

     

C.  PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE  –   Rudicell 

    D.  CODE ENFORCEMENT/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE  -    Fry       

    E.  PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE / SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY  -   LeJeune      

          Review minutes / November 19
th

  

 

5. REPORTS OF SPECIAL BOARDS & COMMISSIONS:  
    A.  Board of Zoning Adjustments  –   Adrienne Jones   

    B.  Downtown Redevelopment Authority –  Conaway    

    C.  Industrial Development Board –  Dane Haygood       

          Nomination: Lynn Mitchell   

 

    D.  Library Board –  Lake 
 

 

 

 1



 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA                         DECEMBERF 17, 2012                               PAGE   2 

 

 

  E.  Planning Commission –Scott 

a.) Set a Public Hearing Date for January 21, 2013 to consider Rezoning & Annexation  of: 

 

  GCOF Retreat at Tiawasee 

  Location:                 Southwest of the intersection of Tiawasee Boulevard and County Road 13 

  Present Zoning:       RSF-2 Single Family District, Baldwin County District 15 

  Requested Zoning:  R-2, High Density Single Family Residential District, City of Daphne 

  Recommendation:   No Recommendation / Motion to set forth an unfavorable recommendation  

                                  failed. Six members were present three voted in the affirmative and three  

                                                  dissented 

 

    F.  Recreation Board  –   LeJeune  

    G.  Utility Board  –  Fry 

      

 

6.  REPORTS OF OFFICERS: 

 

A.  Mayor’s Report  
      a.)  MOTION:  To approve the request as outlined in the letter from the Eastern Shore Chamber of  

                                 Commerce for the 2013 Jubilee Festival 

 

      b.)  MOTION:   To authorize the Mayor, City Attorney and a representative from the City Council to  

                                 enter into negotiations with Mr. Williams for the property on Whispering Pines, and  

                                 come back to council with recommendation 

 

       c.)  ABC License / Record Bar / 010 – Lounge Retail Liquor – Class I 

 

                     

B.  City Attorney’s Report  

C.  Department Head Comments    

 

 

7. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  

 

 

8. RESOLUTIONS & ORDINANCES: 

     
RESOLUTIONS: 

a.)  Service Agreement:  Between Baldwin County and the  

      City of Daphne / Connect to Fiber. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Resolution 2012-99  

 

b.)  ALDOT Improvements Made on I-10 Within the City Limits 

       of Daphne, Alabama Project Number IM(329) Resurfacing I-10 from 

      East End of the Bayway Bridge East of SR-59 in Baldwin County. . . . . . . . . . . /Resolution 2012-100 

 

 

 

 
 

 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA                         DECEMBERF 17, 2012                               PAGE   3 

 

  ORDINANCES: 

 

 

        2
ND

 READ 
a.)    Consenting to the Sale by the Utilities Board of the 

        City of Daphne of Certain Personal Property Surplus. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2012-71  

 

 

         1
ST

 READ 
b.)   Appropriation of Funds: Sidewalk Improvements for FY2013. . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2012-72 

 

 

9. COUNCIL COMMENTS                   

10.  ADJOURN 

3



CITY OF DAPHNE 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 

ROLL CALL 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL:                                         CALL  VOTES                                    
COUNCILWOMAN CONAWAY    PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN RUDICELL    PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN LAKE   PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN FRY    PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN SCOTT   PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN LEJEUNE     PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

COUNCILMAN HAYGOOD  PRESENT       ABSENT         

    

MAYOR 

 

MAYOR YELDING    PRESENT       ABSENT            

 

INTERIM CITY CLERK: 

 

REBECCA HAYES                 PRESENT___    ABSENT___ 

 

CITY ATTORNEY: 
 

CITY ATTORNEY JAY ROSS  PRESENT       ABSENT    

 

 

MINUTE NOTES: 

 

 

                                                             

 

                                                             

 

                                                             

 

                                                             

 

                                                             

4



 

                                                             

 

                                                             

 

 

      CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES 

 

NOTES: 

 

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                   

 

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                    

                                                                                                             

5



DECEMBER 3, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

1 

 
1.  CALL TO ORDER 

Council President Scott called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

  

2.  ROLL CALL/INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
Council President Scott gave the invocation. 

  

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Tommie Conaway; Pat Rudicell; Randy Fry; Ron Scott; Robin 

LeJeune; Dane Haygood. 

 

ABSENT: John Lake. 

 

Also present:  Mayor Yelding;  Rebecca Hayes, Interim City Clerk; Jay Ross, City Attorney; Adrienne 

Jones, Planning Director; David Carpenter, Police Chief; James White, Fire Chief; Richard Johnson, Public 

Works Director; Vickie Hinman,  Human Resource Director; David McKelroy, Recreation Director; 

Margaret Thigpen, Civic Center Director; Tonja Young, Library Director; Christine Ciancetta, Deputy 

Finance Director; Larry Cooke, BZA; Philip Durant, BZA; Dorothy Morrison, Beautification Committee 

and DRA. 

 

Absent:  Kim Briley, Finance Director; Richard Merchant, Building Official. 

 

 

3. APPROVE MINUTES: 

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to adopt the November 19, 2012 Council meeting minutes.  

Seconded by Councilman Haygood. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR           NAY    NONE OPPOSED            MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

PUBLIC HEARING:  Rezoning and Annexation:  GCOF Retreat at Tiawasee 

 

 Location:                 Southwest of the intersection of Tiawasee Boulevard and County Road 13 

 Present Zoning:       RSF-2 Single Family District, Baldwin County District 15 

 Requested Zoning:  R-3, High Density Single Family Residential District, City of Daphne 

 Recommendation:   No Recommendation / Motion to set forth an unfavorable recommendation  

                                  failed. Six members were present three voted in the affirmative and three  

                                  dissented  

 

Presentation was given by Mr. John Avent.  Mr. Avent requested to change the zoning request from R-3, 

High Density Single Family Residential District to R-2, Medium Density Single Family Residential 

District. 

 

Mr. Ross, City Attorney, said that since this was less restrictive the request would not have to go back to 

the Planning Commission, but a new public hearing would have to be set and advertised.  He also said that 

the developer should write a letter requesting the change. 

 
Council President Scott opened the Public Hearing at 6:45 p.m. 

 

 
6



DECEMBER 3, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

2 

 

Ms. Page Mims – 89085 South Lamhatty Lane  – presented council with information and spoke regarding 

Tiawasee being a small planned community, and that the Retreat at Tiawasee was not a part of that 

community. 

 

Ms. Mary Beth Bergin – 8838 North Lamhatty Lane – spoke regarding the impact on city services and 

access to the development, and is against the annexation. 

 

Mr. Shane Bergin – 8838 North Lamhatty Lane – spoke regarding Tiawasee being a planned community, 

and now it has developed into three (3) subdivisions. 

 

Ms. Ann Strickland – 8799 North Lamhatty Lane – spoke regarding the new development having a 

negative effect, and asked that provisions be made for another entrance if council votes yes. 

 

Council President Scott closed the Public Hearing at 7:00 p.m. 

 

 

MOTIONS: 

 

MOTION BY Councilman LeJeune to recognize a special occasion “The 180 Day Promotional Period 

for Commercial and Retail Establishments”: 

 

The City Council recognizes the economic recession and the on-going impacts of the economic down-

turn as it relates to businesses in the City of Daphne. The City Council hereby recognizes “The 180 

Day Promotional Period for Commercial and Retail Establishments” beginning December 3, 2012 

and ending May 29, 2013 in support of stimulating local business activity.  Seconded by Councilman 

Haygood. 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION CARRIED 

 

MOTION BY Councilman LeJeune Motion to exercise the authority of the City Council granted by 

Section 33-5 (e) (1) of the Land Use & Development Ordinance 2011-54:     

 

The City Council has determined that “The 180 Day Promotional Period for Commercial and Retail 

Establishments” and it is hereby designated by the City Council as an occasion to allow the following 

temporary promotional signs for commercial and retail establishments:  temporary signs and 

banners not exceeding fifty (50) square feet in area, temporary decorative flags, tethered inflatable 

items, bunting, pennants and streamers as provided in Section 33-5 (e) (1) of the Land Use & 

Development Ordinance.  

 

Therefore, temporary signs and banners, temporary decorative flags, tethered inflatable items, 

bunting, pennants and streamers are authorized in the City of Daphne each Friday at 12:00 a.m. 

through Sunday at 11:59 p.m. beginning December 3, 2012 and ending May 29, 2013.   

This motion does not suspend or replace any provisions of the sign ordinance, and reiterates that all 

other requirements of the sign ordinance remain under stringent and uniform enforcement. Each 

must meet all other requirements and provisions of the Land Use & Development Ordinance.  

 

Seconded by Councilman Haygood. 

 

AY E    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION  CARRIED 

 7



DECEMBER 3, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

3 

 

4.  REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEES: 

A. FINANCE COMMITTEE – Conaway 

The next meeting will be December 10
th
 at 4:00 p.m. 

 

     B.  Buildings and Property Committee – Lake 

The committee met earlier before the council meeting, and the minutes will be in the next packet.  

The next meeting will be the first Monday in January. 

 

C.  PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE – Rudicell 

No report.  The next meeting will be December 12
th
.  

 

   D.  CODE ENFORCEMENT/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE – Fry 

No report.  The next meeting will be December 12
th
 after the Public Safety meeting. 

 

E.  PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE/SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY – LeJeune 

No report.  The next meeting will be the December 17
th
.  

 

                                                                                 

5.   REPORTS OF SPECIAL BOARDS & COMMISSIONS: 

A. Board of Zoning Adjustments – Jones 

The next meeting will be January 3
rd

. 

 

B. Downtown Redevelopment Authority – Conaway 

The Authority met November 26
th
, and the chairman will update council at a meeting in January. 

        
C. Industrial Development Board – Haygood 

The November 13
th
 minutes are in the packet, and the next meeting will be January 28

th
 at 6:00 p.m.  

There is a vacancy on the board that needs to be filled. 

 

D. Library Board – Lake 

The next meeting will be December 13
th
 at 4:00 p.m. 

 

E. Planning Commission – Scott 

The minutes for the October 25
th
 meeting are in the packet. 

 

MOTION BY Councilman Haygood to Set a Public Hearing date for January 7, 2013 to consider: 

Amendments to the Land Use and Development Ordinance 2011-54 and authorize advertisement of 

Public Hearing:     

 

 1.)   Article 8 / Definition of Terms / Prefabricated / Accessory Structures  

 2.)Article 9, Section 12 (g)  / Accessory Structures 

Seconded by Councilman Fry. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION CARRIED 

  

G. Utility Board – Fry 

The board will meet the last Wednesday of the month.   

 

 
8



DECEMBER 3, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

4 

 

6.  REPORTS OF THE OFFICERS: 

    A.  Mayor’s Report 

No report. 

        

    B.  City Attorney’s Report 

Mr. Ross reported there is an appeal for a hearing to council by an employee who has been 

terminated.  The notice was received November 30
th

, and council has 15 days to schedule a hearing 

date. 

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to set a Special Called council meeting for December 

17, 2012 6:00 p.m. for the purpose of an employee hearing.   Seconded by Councilman Fry. 

 

After discussion Councilwoman Conaway withdrew her motion and Councilman Fry 

withdrew his second.  

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to set a Special Called council meeting for December 

17, 2012 5:30 p.m. for the purpose of an employee hearing.   Seconded by Councilman Fry. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

    C. Department Head Comments 

David Carpenter – Police Chief – reported there is a rash of vehicle break-ins, and they have their 

eye on a group from Mobile. 

 

James White – Fire Chief – reported they had some good news on Dan’s condition, and that the 

entire city will keep the full ISO rating. 

 

David McKelroy – Recreation Director – thanked everyone who participated in the Christmas 

parade, Public Works, PD, and the Fire Departments. 

 

Margaret Thigpen – Civic Center Director -  reported the Baldwin Pops will be playing December 

4
th

, and the doors will open at 6:00 p.m. and the concert starts at 7:00 p.m. 

 

Tonja Young – Library Director -  reported lectures on World War II will be held during January 

and February. 

 
 

7.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

 

NO ONE SPOKE 
 

 

 

 

 9



DECEMBER 3, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

5 

 

8.   RESOLUTIONS, ORDINANCES, ORDERS AND OTHER BUSINESS 

 

      RESOLUTIONS: 

 

NO RESOLUTIONS TO CONSIDER 

 

 
ORDINANCES: 

 

 2
ND

  READ 

a.)   Appropriation of Funds:  Profit Drive Extension . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2012-66 

 

b.)   Appropriation of Funds:  Garbage Truck Replacement . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2012-67 

 

 

         1
ST

 READ 
c.)  Rezone: GCOF Retreat at Tiawasee. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2012-69 

 

d.)  Annexation: GCOF Retreat at Tiawasee. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . /Ordinance 2012-70 

 

e.)   Consenting to the Sale by the Utilities Board of the 

       City of Daphne of Certain Personal Property Surplus. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ./Ordinance 2012-71  

 

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to waive the reading of Ordinances 2012-66 and 2012-67.  Seconded 

by Councilman Rudicell. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to adopt Ordinance 2012-66.  Seconded by Councilman Rudicell. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR          NAY    NONE OPPOSED          MOTION CARRIED     

 

MOTION BY Councilwoman Conaway to adopt Ordinance 2012-67.  Seconded by Councilman Haygood. 

 

AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

ORDINANCES 2012-69, 2012-70 AND 2012-71 REMAIN 1
ST

 READ. 
 

 

   9.  COUNCIL COMMENTS 

Councilwoman Conaway thanked the Recreation and Public Works Departments for the Christmas parade saying 

it went smoothly, and she appreciated that Public Works was up early cleaning up afterwards.  She appreciates the 

hard work done by Public Works. 

 10



DECEMBER 3, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS MEETING 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

6 

 

Councilman Fry seconded Mrs. Conaway’s comments. 

 

Councilman LeJeune said he had a great time at the Christmas parade, and thanked the Recreation, Public 

Works and Police Departments. 

 

Councilman Haygood commended the large crowd that came out for the council meeting, and encouraged 

everyone to continue to participate, and let their thoughts be known. 

 

Council President Scott thanked the city for the Christmas parade.  He thinks what all Public Works 

does is incredible, and he is proud of the work force of the City of Daphne.  He is thankful for the 

turnout of citizens coming to voice their opinions. 

 

 Mayor Yelding thanked the entire staff for the Christmas festivities, Recreation, Public Works and his 

secretary Mrs. Ellis for putting on a tremendous setting for families.  This is the best crowd for the tree 

lighting that he can remember. He thanked all for being here. 

 

 

10.  ADJOURN 

 

MOTION BY Councilman LeJeune to adjourn.  Seconded by Councilman Haygood. 

 

    AYE    ALL IN FAVOR             NAY    NONE OPPOSED             MOTION CARRIED 

 

 

THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS TO DISCUSS, THE MEETING ADJOURNED 

AT 7:25 P.M. 

 

Respectfully submitted by,    

                                                     
 

____________________________                              

Rebecca A. Hayes,       

Interim City Clerk    

                            

                                       Certification of Presiding Officer:       
 

 

                                       ___________________________________ 

           Ron Scott, 

          Council President 

 
 

11



DECEMBER 10, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

1 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Tommie Conaway; Pat Rudicell; John Lake; Randy Fry; Ron 

Scott; Robin LeJeune; Dane Haygood. 

 

Also present: Rebecca Hayes, Interim City Clerk; Jay Ross, City Attorney; Richard Johnson, Public 

Works Director; Adrienne Jones, Planning Director; Suzanne Henson, Senior Accountant; Rick 

Whitehead, IT Technician; Rob McElroy, Utility Board Director; Lance Alexander, Computer 

Backup. 

  

Absent:  Mayor Yelding. 

 

Council President Scott called the meeting to order at 6:35 p.m. 

 

 

1. PURCHASE OF WILLIAMS PROPERTY / VILLAGE POINT FOUNDATION: 

Mrs. Selena Vaughn, Village Point Foundation, gave a synopsis of the Village Point Foundation 

goals and accomplishments.  They are a 501-3C, and have a recognized relationship with the city.  

They are not there just to tell the city how to spend money, but they work in cooperation with the 

city on improvements to the Bayfront like getting grants to purchase swing sets and picnic tables.   

They recommend the purchase of the Williams property, because of the erosion that causes sediment 

all the way down to the bay.   She said they could make a passive park out of the property.   

 

Council has concerns with spending lodging tax funds for this property being it is not Bayfront 

property.  The ordinance is for the purchase of Bayfront property.  They are also concerned about 

buying damaged property.  There is a ton of work to be done on this property. They wondered if the 

price could be negotiated. 

 

Council President Scott asked that a motion authorizing the Mayor and City Attorney to enter into 

negotiations with Mr. Williams for the property, and report back to council. 

 

 

2.  JMF / FIBER OPTICS 

Michael Francis with JMF Solutions answered questions from council regarding the installation of 

fiber optics in the city, and equipment to be installed on the city’s towers. 

 

The city will own the equipment on the towers.  The equipment at the Justice Center will be strictly 

for city use, and they will have other equipment for their other customers. 

 

They cannot do anything until they get the safety report for the tower. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12



DECEMBER 10, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

2 

 

 

3. AMENDING THE LAND USE & DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE / 2011-54 

a.)  Article 9, Section 12 (g) District Provisions, Accessory Structures 

b.)  Article 8, Definitions 

 

Mrs. Jones said that this amendment came about from a case where a resident on Pinehill was 

moving in some prefabricated structures, and she and Mr. Merchant went to check it out, and they 

realized there was nothing in the Land Use Ordinance regarding prefabricated and accessory 

structures and the requirements for such.  The amendment adds the definitions and requirements for 

prefabricated and accessory structures. 

 

Council President Scott asked Mrs. Jones to check with the Building Official regarding the security 

of tie downs, and to make sure this is for residential. 

 

Mrs. Jones mentioned to council that she will be sending registration forms for Planning and Zoning 

training classes by the University of North Alabama being held January 25
th

 and 26
th

.  She said it is 

great training. 

 

 

4.  CRITERIA FOR: 

a.)   Municipal Judge 

Mr. Ross said that the Municipal Judge has a two (2) year term, presides over court, levies fines and 

is over the magistrates.   

 

Council narrowed the procedure down to two choices: 

1.)  Each council member nominate a person 

2.)  Accept resumes and have a committee to pare down the choices for council 

Committee could be the Mayor, Mr. Ross, a council representative and Chief Carpenter 

 

Consensus of Council was to accept resumes and have a committee to review and pare them down to 

a manageable number. 

 

Council President Scott requested the City Clerk to have a motion on the agenda for Monday to 

authorize the acceptance of resumes. 

 

b.)    City Clerk 

Consensus of Council is to authorize the Human Resources Department to advertise for the position. 

 Council needs to decide on a pay range for the position. 

 

Council President Scott requested the City Clerk to have a motion on the agenda for Monday to 

authorize the advertising of the position. 

 

 

 

 

13



DECEMBER 10, 2012 

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

1705 MAIN STREET 

DAPHNE, AL 

6:30 P.M. 

 

3 

 

5.    WHATEVER ELSE IS DEEMED NECESSARY 

 

6.  ADJOURN 

 

There being no further business to discuss the meeting adjourned at 7:55 p.m. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted by,       

                                                     

                               

___________________________                                                                                        

Rebecca A. Hayes,                                                                     

Interim City Clerk                                                                                                                                             
       Certification of Presiding Officer:   

 

 

       ________________________________      

      Ron Scott,     

      Council President     

14



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
STANDING COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
FINANCE COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
                                                                    
                                                                   

                                                                  
 
                                                                  
 
                                                                  
 

BUILDINGS & PROPERTY COMMITTEE REPORT  
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    

PLANNING/ZONING/CODE ENFORCEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
 

PUBLIC SAFETY/ORDINANCE COMMITTEE REPORT 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    

                                                                  
 
                                                                  
 

PUBLIC WORKS/BEAUTIFICATION/MUSEUM COMMITTEE  REPORT 
 
                                                                  
 
                                                                  

15



CITY OF DAPHNE 

FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES 
December 10, 2012  

4:00 P.M. 
 
I.      CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL 
 
The meeting was called to order at 4:02 p.m.  Present were Chairwoman Tommie Conaway, , Councilman Dane 
Haygood, Mayor Bailey Yelding, Jr., Senior Accountant Suzânne Henson and Accounting Technician Sue 
Moody. 
 
Ron Scott at 4:17 p.m. and Mr. John Lake, Councilman at 4:20 p.m.   
 
Also in attendance were Human Resources Director Vickie Hinman, Revenue Officer Heather Gywnn, Public 
Works Director Mr. Richard Johnson, IT Coordinator Rick Whitehead, and Mayor’s Executive Assistant Jane 
Ellis. 
. 
 
II.      PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 

A. Blueprint for a Better Tomorrow Update – Mr. Bradley Byrnes 
Mr. Bradley Byrnes discussed the Blueprint for Better Tomorrow on behalf of the Eastern Shore Chamber of 
Commerce.  He noted that there is over 80,000 people living on the Eastern Shore in the communities of 
Daphne, Spanish Fort, Fairhope, Blakely, Belforest, Malbis, Montrose, Barnwell, and Point Clear.  Mr. 
Byrnes stated that Daphne is a tourism destination and that if all the resources pulled together it could have 
a great impact on the city.  Mr. Byrnes noted the other resources being Chamber of Commerce, Economic 
Development Board and Baldwin Co. Economic Development Alliance.  Mr. Byrnes provided a handout 
showing the Blueprint for a Better Tomorrow’s strategic plan by focusing on retaining and creating high 
paying jobs in four industry clusters:. 

1. Aerospace and hi-tech precision manufacturing  
2. Health Care/Medical  
3. Film, Music, and Entertainment Industry  
4. IT and Technical Support Centers 

Ms. Conaway asked how the $35,000 amount originated.  Mr. Scott said he believed this amount was the 
original budget set and that other municipalities would be contributing as well.  Mr. Scott also discussed that he 
understood that the majority of funding for the program was to come from the business community.  Mr. Bradley 
continued to discuss the benefits to the economy of the Eastern Shore that would be created by the Blueprint for 
a Better Tomorrow program. 
 
Councilman Ron Scott noted that the Appropriation request ($35,000) for Blueprint for a Better 
Tomorrow will be on the agenda for the December 17

th
  Council Meeting for the full Council’s review. 

 
B.  Mr. Kevin Spriggs discussed that he was not in favor of the City supporting Blueprint for Tomorrow.  Mr. 
Kevin Spriggs stated that he thought the City should focus on the fundamentals such as Public Safety.  Mr. 
Spriggs discussed the importance of the City providing safe environment for businesses and citizens and noted 
a safe environment attracts people.  Mr. Kevin Spriggs also stated that the City also needs to focus on road 
maintenance and Storm Water Management. Mr. Spriggs noted that the City has to have a financial plan to set 
money aside for future years for resurfacing and other maintenance projects so that the City will not have to 
borrow monies. 
      

III.    HUMAN RESOURCES BUSINESS 
 
A.  Update on Human Resources Department Activity 
Vickie Hinman reviewed the Human Resource Report. 
 
 
 

16



Finance Minutes.doc  2  

Positions   Status 
Communications Officer  Background Check  
Admin. Tech (Mechanical) Background Check 
Firefighter   DOH: 11/29/2012 
 
Ms. Hinman reviewed the last Safety Committee Meeting Discussion.  Discussions included the results of the 
building inspection at Eastern Star Building.  Ms. Hinman noted that the Public Works department will hold 
Pesticide training in January for the Grounds department.  Also in January, flagging certification will be offered 
to the remainder of the Public Works employees.   
Human Resource projects include: 
Social Media Policy training w/Directors – Dec. 5, 2012 
Trim-A-Tree -  Nov. 28, 2012 
RSA conference at City Hall Dec 5 and Dec 6 
Conference calls with Kronos regarding new server and upgrades. 
Reviewing Personnel Handbook (revisions needed) 
 
Councilman Dane Haygood asked where the Eastern Star Building was located and the purpose of the building.  
Councilman John Lake recommended the City find an organization that might could use the building so the 
building would not continue to remain empty. Discussion continued that perhaps the Industrial Development 
Board or the Buildings and Property Committee discuss options for use of the Eastern Star building.  Mr. 
Richard Johnson stated he would give an update on the Eastern Star Building in January. 
 
Human Resource Director Vicky Hinman requested to be on the Council Work Session in January to discuss 
updating a section in the Employee Handbook.  
 
IV. CURRENT BUSINESS 
 
A.  Financial Reports 

 
1.  Treasurer’s Report:  November 30, 2012 
The Treasurer’s Report totaling $18,359,555.89 was presented by Ms. Henson.  Ms. Henson noted that below 
the 2012 Construction account was the 2012 Construction Investment Account where monies are transferred 
from as road project payments are requested. 
 
Motion by Mr. Lake to accept the Treasurer’s Report as of November 30, 2012, in the 
amount of $18,359,555.89.  Seconded by Mr. Haygood.  Motion carried. 
 
 
2.  Sales and Use Taxes: October 31 , 2012 
The Sales and Use Tax collection for October, the first month for FY2013 were as follows:   

 Sales & Use Tax -     $   919,399.50 
 ES park Collections - $    99,665.87 

                                               $1,019,065.37 
 
Ms. Henson noted that FY2012 collections for October were $864,727.27 compared to FY2013’s collections of 
$1,019,065.37 for the same month.  Ms. Henson noted this is an overall increase of $154,338 but emphasized 
the $1,019,065.37 for FY2013 included the Eastern Shore Park collections but even without including Eastern 
Shore Park there was still an increase over FY2012’s collections.  Ms. Henson noted the Sales Tax Graphs 
would be included in next month’s packet after Ms. Briley updates the spreadsheet with the monthly breakdown 
of revenue projections. 
 
3.  Lodging Tax Collections, October 30, 2012  
The Lodging Tax Collections report shows $51,578.40 collected for October 2012. 
 
Discussion was made that October’s Lodging Tax collections were in line with last year’s collections. 
 
 
 

17



Finance Minutes.doc  3  

 
4. Lodging Tax Financial Statements ,September 30, 2012 & Allocation Breakdown through  
October 31, 2015. 
Ms. Conaway reviewed the Lodging Tax reports presented in the packet.  Ms. Conaway noted Ms. Briley had 
prepared the allocation breakdown to IDB, Downtown Redevelopment, Debt Service, and Recreation/Parks loan 
as requested. Ms. Briley included a Statement of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures Report for years FY95 – 
FY12 including all projects funded out of Lodging Tax Fund, this report shows the Unreserved Fund Balance at 
$1,434,121.94. Encumbered monies were discussed and the Recreation/Parks loan.  Ms. Conaway noted that 
collection projections show the Recreation/Parks loan will not be paid off until FY17.  Ms. Briley’s 
recommendation was to not loan additional monies out of this fund until after FY17. Discussion continued on the 
what the Bayfront property outstanding debt balance was.  Ms. Henson said she would get that information from 
Ms. Briley.  (The debt for Bayfront property purchases was included in the debt refinanced in the 2012 Bond 
Issue and was structured to carry the same maturity date.  (Note: The structuring was done during the time the 
Finance Director was out on leave).  Debt Service payments for Bayfront property is approximately 
$155,000/annually and will mature in 2032). 
 
5. Capital Projects Fund Reserve Fund Balance, September 30, 2012 
Ms. Conaway reviewed the Capital Projects Fund Reserve Fund Balance report presented in the packet. Ms. 
Conaway also reviewed that Ms. Briley had noted the current available funds from the Capital Reserve Fund are 
approximately $820,000. 
 
6.  Report: New Business Licenses – November  2012 
The list of new businesses, and businesses closed, in November was included in the packet.  
Mayor Yelding noted there were 29 new businesses and 0 closed businesses.   
 
7.  Bills Paid Reports – November 2012 
The Bills Paid Report was included in Packet #2. 
Ms. Henson noted that there were two packets due to the continuing closeout of FY2012 and ongoing 
operations for FY2013. 
 
B.  Appropriation Request 
General Fund: 

 Jubilee Breeze Publishing and Postage 
Ms. Ellis handed out cost information showing expenditures for printing additional Jubilee Breeze Magazines 
and postage to mail these copies.  Ms. Ellis explained the cost for the year would be $32,720 annually 
compared the current budgeted amount of $18,000.  Discussion continued that currently the Jubilee Breeze is 
distributed to the Chamber of Commerce, Hotels, Recreation, City Hall and other city locations to be made 
available to citizens.  Ms. Ellis also explained the Breeze is online on the City’s website for viewing.  Ms. Ellis 
noted that she had not received calls from citizens requesting the Breeze be mailed again but one of the 
volunteers for the City had advised they had heard a few request.  Discussion continued on a few ideas for 
additional promotion to let citizens know the Breeze is available on the City’s website.  Ms. Ellis responded she 
would follow up on these suggestions.   Mayor Yelding discussed that additional cost to mail out the Breeze was 
not  budgeted and recommended the City wait another year to address if the economy improves. 
  
Capital Reserve Fund: 

 Sidewalk Improvements  for  FY13 - $74,305 
Mr. Johnson reviewed the request for funding 1.5 miles of new sidewalks within the City.  Mr. Johnson noted the 
work would be completed in house.  Councilman Scott asked how much is in budget for supplies for sidewalk 
type projects.  Mr.  Johnson answered that he estimated $35,000 for concrete and $60,000 for asphalt for small 
paving jobs. Ms. Henson noted that Ms. Briley, Finance Director had recommended the monies come from the 
Capital Reserve Fund and noted the current available funds from the Capital Reserve Fund are approximately 
$820,000.  Ms. Henson noted this balance is important when considering other future Capital projects that may 
be requested to be funded from the Capital Reserve Fund. 
 
 
Motion by Mr. Lake to recommend to council to approve Sidewalk Improvements for 
FY13 in the amount of $74,305 from the Capital Reserve Fund. Seconded by Mr. Scott.  
Motion carried. 

18



Finance Minutes.doc  4  

 
 
C.  County Fiber Agreement: 
 Ms. Henson reviewed the County Fiber agreement in the packet.  Ms. Henson stated that there was no charges 
from the County to connect to the County fiber and noted this connection will allow access to the County’s 911 
services and to their GIS system.  Ms. Henson noted there could be other services offered but at this time the 
need is for 911 and GIS.  Ms. Henson noted that the agreement basically gives the City’s and the County’s 
responsibility in the connection process and continual maintenance required for this type network.  Ms. Henson 
noted that this is a standard agreement that has to be signed by the City before it can connect to the County’s 
fiber and that other municipalities have signed and made the connection.  Ms. Henson noted that Mr. Lance 
Alexander, City’s IT Consultant had reviewed the contract and that the City Attorney is reviewing the contract as 
well.  Discussion continued that this connection is not for internet services only a connection to specified County 
services (911, GIS).  Discussion continued that Mr. Mike Francis with JMF Solutions, the company that was 
awarded the City’s fiber bid contract,  would be at the Council Work Session following the Finance Meeting to 
review the projects and answer any technical questions. 
 
Motion by Mr. Scott to recommend Council adopt a resolution to authorize the Mayor 
to enter into agreement with the County to connect to the County’s Fiber.  Seconded 
by Mr. Haygood.  Motion carried. 
  
 
 
D.  Communication Tower Revenue Report  
Ms. Henson reviewed the Revenue Report for revenue collections for the City’s communication tower since 
FY2003 - $461,502.29.  Ms. Henson noted that Ms. Briley had advised there was debt service on the tower prior 
to FY2003.  Ms. Henson also reviewed the Tower Lease Schedule maintained for the three cellular companies 
that lease space on the tower.  Ms. Henson noted Ms. Briley had explained these monies are designated and 
available for any repairs or analysis needed for the tower.    
 

V. OLD BUSINESS 
Chairwoman Mrs. Conaway answered Mr. Kevin Spriggs question from a previous meeting concerning changing 
Business License process.  Mrs. Briley had responded to Chairwoman Mrs. Conaway that renewals are already 
being processed and mailed out so a change cannot be made to this fiscal year.  Mrs. Briley also advised Ms. 
Conaway that any loss in revenues due to any future changes in the Business License process would have to 
be addressed, Ms. Briley further explained that proposed changes would create approximately a $1.5 million 
dollar shortfall in revenues that would have to come from another source to maintain the current balanced 
budget.  Mayor Yelding noted that in the New Businesses Report covered earlier in the meeting there were no 
business closings and this reflects the current system is working. 
     
    
 
VI. ADJOURN   
 
The meeting was adjourned at 5:18 p.m. 
 
 
 

19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



 

 

 

P
ag

e1
 

Buildings & Property Committee Meeting 
Monday, October, 2012   5:30 PM 

Daphne City Hall 
 

Committee 
Councilman John Lake 

Councilman Derek Boulware 
Mayor Bailey Yelding, Jr. 

Richard Merchant, Building Official 
Frank Barnett, Maintenance Supervisor 
Margaret Thigpen, Civic Center Director 

 

Committee Minutes (Summary) 

 

Present:   Frank Barnett, John Lake, Derek Boulware, Bailey Yelding, Jr., Jane Ellis, Richard 
Merchant, Richard Johnson, Margaret Thigpen,  
 

A.) Minutes from September Meeting: Motion made to approve minutes from June 
Meeting.  Approved.    
 

B.) City Hall Maintenance Items – Frank Barnett discussed the need for repairing the roof 
on the old part of city hall building.  Richard Johnson said that after the Operation 
Budget is approved tonight then the Council will work on the Capital Budget and we can 
address it at that time. 
There are also heating issues that need to be identified, addressed and repaired.  Frank 
is working on the list. 
It was also noted that Fire station #1 roof – part of their roof needs to be redone. 
 

C.) Civic Center & Bayfront – Margaret Thigpen distributed her monthly report and went 
over upcoming events at both facilities. 
While working on the Bayfront ceiling replacement it turned out to be worse than 
expected and could have been a safety issue.  Photos were distributed. 
Richard Johnson talked the gravel parking lot.  Clients complain (women) about the 
difficulty in walking on it and especially for older adults.  Richard said that H.O. Weaver 
has a new product that want to try out – it is an emperrias pavement asphalt system.  
They are working on a price and this would be a front end project for them.  It is nature 
and environmentally friendly.  Frank said if we do this it would be a good time to expand 
the parking lot. 
Carpet is in at Civic Center – looks good.   
They will be doing a Movie Night on Sundays 
 

71



 

 

 

P
ag

e2
 

 
D. Building Inspection Department – Richard Merchant distributed the reports for 
August and September. September was a very good month with 105 permits which 
included 14 new residentials. 
 
E.   Roadside Memorials – John Lake raised the issue about the roadside memorials (i.e. 
flowers) that people place on the road side and specifically at the bridge on Main Street 
that was built.  Now there are flowers all over it.  Some citizens have expressed distaste 
and maybe we could consider a time frame.  Richard Johnson suggested we put a time 
limit on all signs and PWs could pick up while mowing.   Mayor Yelding suggested this be 
brought to the Ordinance Committee.  
 

 
 

72



 

 

 

P
ag

e1
 

Buildings & Property Committee Meeting 
Monday, December 3, 2012   5:30 PM 

Daphne City Hall 
 

Committee 
Councilman Dane Haygood 

Councilman Randy Fry 
Councilman Pat Rudicell 
Mayor Bailey Yelding, Jr. 

Richard Merchant, Building Official 
Frank Barnett, Maintenance Supervisor 
Margaret Thigpen, Civic Center Director 

Rick Whitehead, IT Coordinator 
 

Committee Minutes (Summary) 

 

Present:   Frank Barnett, Dane Haygood, Randy Fry, Bailey Yelding, Jr., Jane Ellis, Pat Rudicell, 
Richard Johnson, Margaret Thigpen, Rick Whitehead, Suzanne Henson, David McKelory 
 

A.) Minutes from October Meeting: Motion made to approve minutes from October 
Meeting.  Approved.   Note:  There was no November meeting. 
 

B.) City’s Communication Tower:  Jay Ross reported to the committee that AT&T was ready 
to move forward and discussed the details. Civitium is the engineering firm that can 
assess the tower before actual construction.  Cost would be $12,000.  Perry Rockmore, 
former Director of the Alabama League of Municipalities recommended Civitium.  
 
Dane Haygood suggested that we make sure that AT&T would not be willing to pay all or 
part of the cost of engineering services. Dane also asked if there was a time frame on 
this project other than AT&T and JMF wanting to get started. Was there any alternative 
in the meantime? 
 
Suzanne reported that there are monies available for this and no new money would 
need to be appropriated.  She said that the only option temporarily would be to use 
Daphne Utilities tower but this would not work for long term.  Ron Scott said if the 
utility company would let us use their tower it would buy us some time for the 
engineering study to be done.  He will ask the Utility Board President about a short term 
lease to help us out immediately. 
 
Motion made to table this discussion/project to allow time to gather all information. 
 
 

73



 

 

 

P
ag

e2
 

C.) Surplus Resolution – There will be a resolution on the agenda for the council’s approval.  
It is for tables that were at the Civic Center.  They are not sturdy which presents a safety 
issue.  The other departments within the City were given the opportunity to get them if 
needed.  Otherwise it goes up for public sale.  Suzanne Henson said that this is standard 
procedure.  
 

D.) Trione Park and new Sports Complex – David McKelroy distributed a map of the area at 
the park.  He reported that the Daphne/Spanish Fort Kiwanis Club wants to help with 
the playground to the amount of $25,000+.  The City would be responsible for the land 
preparation and possible fencing. 
 
The committee just asked that the equipment the club purchases would meet the 
quality and safety standards that the City would use. 
 

E.) Civic Center & Bayfront – Revenue and activity reports were distributed. 
 

F.) Building Inspection – Monthly reports distributed. 
 
Motion made for David to move forward with this and also to look for grants to help 
fund the new Sports Complex. 
 
6:25 PM  Meeting adjourned. 
 
 

74



CITY OF DAPHNE Councilman Tommie Conaway, District 1 

PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE MEETING       CHAIRMAN Councilman Pat Rudicell, District 2 

Time: 5:00 PM on November 19, 2012  Councilman John Lake, District 3 

Location: City Hall Council Chambers             Councilman Ron Scott, District 5 

 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER  
  The November meeting of the Public Works Committee was called to order at 5:00 PM   

 

Present: Mayor Bailey Yelding, Councilwoman Tommie Conaway, Councilman John Lake, 

Richard D. Johnson-Director Public Works, Jaye Robertson-HMR Engineers, Pat 

Rudicell-Councilman, Councilman-Robin LeJeune, Councilman Ron Scott, Dorothy 

Morrison-Daphne Beautification Committee, Burt-Public Works Intern and his wife, 

Susan Johnson 

 

II. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION & CORRESPONDENCE 
A. Work Request Report – October reports reviewed.  Start of a new year.  Question regarding 

stop signs.  A stop sign on Whispering Pines near church that is in disrepair.  Can it be 

replaced?  It’s on a City ROW, therefore City responsibility. Will get work order issued.  For 

future reference, if you see anything of that nature, the quickest way to get it corrected is to 

contact Candice in Public Works directly who will issue a work order. 

B. Vehicle/Equipment Maintenance Report – October reports reviewed. Not a year to date 

summary since it’s the first month of the fiscal year.  Nothing outstanding.  Street non-routine 

spent money on caterpillar.  Solid Waste routine.  Can you elaborate on what your estimated 

budget is for maintenance?  Is it $30K or any set number?  Richard responded that it was 

closer to around $40K.  Includes maintenance to any City vehicle or equipment.  Includes 

work outsourced.  When work is done in-house, it does not include labor. Only item charged 

is the part replaced. 

C. Public Participation – Burt Johnson, Public Works Intern and wife Susan.  Bert was 

instrumental in the Road Evaluation Project.  Have worked very hard from the beginning to 

accomplish this task.  Cut it close, but met the deadline.  Had to go back and re-check several 

roads.  Councilman Scott is glad to see that the City is taking advantage of the Intern project.  

Richard commented how proud he is of his staff.  They put in a lot of hard work to get this 

complete. 

D. Correspondence – None 

 

III. OLD BUSINESS  

A. Minutes – October 15, 2012.  Motion made by Councilwoman Conaway to accept the 

minutes as presented.  Motion seconded by Councilman Scott.  Motion carried. 

B. Mosquito Reports – October reports reviewed.  A summary at the beginning.  We have 

officially wrapped up our mosquito spraying program for the season.  Notes on educational 

outreach, number of cases county and state-wide.  Would like to be more proactive, but new 

guidelines require extensive documentation/complaints prior to an area being treated.  Only 

one case in Daphne.  By mid-summer, the Health Department loosened up a little on 

guidelines.  Do not have to justify treating standing water.  The process begins when a citizen 

calls in a complaint.  One of our crew members has to go to that location and determine 

whether spraying is justified based on number of mosquito bites.  Councilman Lake suggested 

that we recommend the use of various plants that are mosquito resistant.  Not sure if this really 

works or not.   
C. Street Sweeper Reports – October reports reviewed.   Park City was sprayed on October 1st.  

Councilman asked if it would be possible to run the street sweeper on Hwy 181.  They have 

been directed to sweep Hwy 181.  They would need to do it around 6:00 AM in order to miss 

traffic.  Councilman asked whether street sweeping is being done based on citizen requests or 

is there a route.  Green represents travel, red represents spraying.  Have requested that reports 

more clearly show sweeping route, but if he drives back over a swept area the red is hidden in 
75



some areas.   
 

IV. NEW BUSINESS 

A.  

 
V. DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

A. Road Evaluation Report Presentation (under separate cover) – Richard passed out street 

evaluations for each district.  The insurance company calls Kim Briley every year and request 

how many miles of City roads are there in the City.  So, this year we went out and physically 

inventoried every street inside the City limits of Daphne.  Richard introduced Burt Johnson, 

Public Works Intern who is currently pursuing a degree in Civil Engineering at the University 

of South Alabama. He has visited every street in the City.  There is a hand-written report for 

each street evaluated.  We judged the streets from worst to best and categorized by district.  If 

the street was not a paved street, it was assigned a rating of “0.”  More of a paved road 

evaluation.  First paved road on your list is the worst ranked road in your district.  Roads were 

segmented according to proximity within district based on North and West orientation.  If 

there was a district didn’t meet criteria, then it was given to that district.  Under the name 

ranking is an alphabetical ranking of all road.  In your appendix, first 10 page list overall city 

ranking from worst to best.  How many miles are there in the City of Daphne?  Richard 

responded that there is 134.5 mile of City maintained roads. Plus or minus a few private roads.  

On a 20-year cycle we should be repaving at least 7 miles per year.  Further in the appendix is 

a copy of the evaluation form used to evaluate roads.  The roads were judged on listed criteria.  

Road rating was average of 9 criteria items.  You can also see the condition of each road on its 

evaluation report.  The rating system is on page 15.  Samples of what each road condition 

would look like are included.  Richard was surprised that most roads fell in the “6” range 

which is pretty good.  Consistency maintained.  Burt has double checked each road.  How do 

we tie this into GIS.  Database created in Access.  Because we used the same format, Trisha 

can take this database and convert and tie into the GIS system.   The goal is to create a color 

coated map of roads based on priority. Councilman Scott hopes that we continue to use this 

report to repair the roads that need it the most.  It would be a good idea to be able to have an 

idea when a particular street is scheduled for repairs.  We need to change this from Capital 

Road Improvements to Capital Road Repairs.  Councilman Lake didn’t see Honeysuckle Road 

which is an unpaved City road that needs to be grated at the very least.  Has a severely 

disabled resident on that street that is unable to leave his home during times of heavy rains.  

Richard reported that the west side is a City road and is included.  Richard requested a motion 

to present this data to the council.  Motion made by Councilman Lake.  Motion seconded 

by Councilwoman Conaway. Motion passed. 

B. Sidewalk Proposal – Last month we started working on sidewalk projects.  Received a request to add 

sidewalks to district 1 to continue some existing in Daphmont.  Wilson Avenue from US 98 

to Watts Lane, then continue on Daphne Avenue (CR 64) to Essex from Bailey.  Also, in 

Historic Malbis at the corner lot (ROW) of St. Barbara and over on the corner of St. Helen. A 

small job that we would like to get done. Residents in Brookhaven have come to us 

requesting a sidewalk that tie into the Whispering Pines Road sidewalk.  Cooperative project 

when we did the safety improvement project on North Hwy 98. We got the engineering for 

the sidewalk done, but the state is not going to pay for that.  The cost would be on the City. 

Since there are so many business driveways (aprons), most of it will be Thermaplast cross 

walks.  Then, a request from District 1 was to continue down Warren Street to Cedar Drive 

and connect to the existing sidewalks in Daphmont.  Also down tie Maple Drive into the 

existing sidewalk there. In-house cost (materials only) $74,304.36.   This includes 7700 linear 

feet of sidewalk.  That’s about a mile and a half of sidewalk.  Can’t realistically expect to lay 

more sidewalk than that in a year.  These are all in-house projects.  The goal is to get to CR 

64 and Pollard Road all the way to Park Dr. Councilman asked when we will know more 

about sidewalks to the High School and Middle School.  Richard replied that we would re-

apply for the SRTS grant.  We did not receive it last year. That will be a part of our request 

when we resubmit. Safe routes only apply to Elementary and Middle Schools.  We will 
76



advertise and have bids back in January for $80K grant.  Richard requested a motion for 

appropriations for these sidewalk projects, including the cost of design and continuation of 

sidewalks on CR 64.  Councilwpman Conaway proposed that appropriations be set aside 

for the continuation of sidewalks on CR 64.  Motion seconded by Councilman Scott.  

Motion carried.  Richard requested that Jaye Robertson from HMR Engineering get an 

estimate of what the he thinks the costs will be.   

 

VI. SOLID WASTE AUTHORITY 

A. Monthly Equipment Use Report – This report shows equipment use by the hour.  You can 

see how much time our operators are spending operating the equipment. 

B. Monthly Recycle Tonnage Report (Tonnage Comparison).  Good news on the recycling 

report.  We were up 7 tons versus last year which equals to about $502.   

C. Solid Waste New Customer Report – New report we just started this fiscal year.  We started 

the year with 7,134 customers.  In the month of October we added 23 new residents and 1 new 

business.  These are newly built homes, not existing homes.  True growth.  How soon will the 

new recycle carts be in?  On order.  Any day now. 

D. ADEM Grant – Excited about receiving this grant.  As a part of the grant, we will acquire 3 

pro-tilt trailers with graphic designs.  These are recycling trailers and have flip tops for paper, 

plastic and aluminum.  We can put a recycling trailer at all City events to help facilitate 

citizens to recycle.  We have 500 recycle carts on order as part of this grant.  Also, part of the 

grant will be used to education and outreach through printed brochures, advertisement and 

signs.  We just held our first “Daphne Recycles” day.  There was good participation.  Weather 

could not have been better.  We want to make it an annual event to educate the community on 

the benefits of recycling.  Councilman Lake feels that it would be a good idea to put recycling 

information in the Jubilee Breeze.  Councilman has noticed residents on his street with over 

flowing and can we be proactive and approach them about recycling.  Kind of approach them 

with the attitude that with recycling, you are actually getting twice a week service.  Would like 

to see a 2-3 page spread in Jubilee Breeze.  We are trying to determine what level of recycling 

we are at and where we would ideally like to be.  If the total tonnage would increase 20%, 

recycling would pay for itself.   

 

VII. MUSEUM COMMITTEE 

A. Minutes – October 8, 2012.  None Submitted 

 

VIII. BEAUTIFICATION COMMITTEE 

A. Minutes – November 2, 2012 minutes.  Richard passed out copies of the minutes of the DBC 

meeting.   

B. Birdhouses are going up in January. 

C. Tomasina has agreed to come back and help out on a part-time basis. 

D. Dorothy spoke about the greatest need of the committee is new members.  People are leaving 

the committee.  All we need is someone to attend a monthly meeting.  We meet on the first 

Wednesday of each month at 1:00 PM in Richard’s office. 

E. Several parking lots have been paved with the development grants.  It’s not too late to get in 

on this mini-grant.  Mr. Chason is interested in having his parking lot paved.  Dorothy will 

contact him with information.  If you know of anyone else, just let Dorothy know.  City 

dollars are not involved.  It’s completely through the community redevelopment committee. 

 

IX. ENVIRONMENT ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

A. Minutes – October 22, 2012 Meeting – Minutes not submitted 

 

X. ENGINEER REPORT 

A. HMR Update – Project updates.  Main Street paving in progress.  All that’s left to pave is the 

Southbound lane from Daphne Avenue to Bay Front Drive.  They will start milling again 

tomorrow.  Daphne Sports Complex – a lot of dirt being moved.  The roadway has been 

undercut.  Parking lots to be cut.  Councilman Scott asked about the number of tree removed 
77



and whether there any significant trees removed.  Jaye responded that two trees were 

preserved.   One large Oak with a 54” diameter and a Magnolia.  The remainder of the trees 

was primarily scrub type trees, mostly shrubs and pine trees. Profit Drive will go to council 

tonight.  Lake Forest Phase II should start before Christmas.  Contractor is one of the best in 

the area.  The curb should be just as good as the ones in Phase I.  Lake Forest Phase III is sue 

on the 14th of December.  Rough estimated start of Phase III is April.   

B. Volkert Update – Not Present 

  

XI. FUTURE BUSINESS 

B. Next Meeting – December 17, 2012 

 

XII. ADJOURNMENT   

The meeting adjourned at 6:10 PM.  

78



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
REPORTS OF SPECIAL COMMITTEES 

 
NOTES: 
 
BOARD OF ZONING ADJUSTMENTS REPORT:
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
DOWNTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY REPORT: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT BOARD: 
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
LIBRARY BOARD: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
RECREATION BOARD REPORT: 
 
                                                                    
UTILITY BOARD REPORT: 
 
                                                                          
 
 
 

79



Industrial Development 

Board Nomination 

 

Lynn Mitchell, CCIM 
26244 Via Del San Francesco 

Daphne, Alabama 36526 
251-656-4770 

Lyn@bellsouth.net 
 

 
 

SKILLS 
 

• Insurance Adjustor, Alabama License 16802347. 

• Commercial and residential construction, planning, and development. 

• Management of personnel, clients, and business assets. 

• Training, curriculum development and education of clients, employees and community. 

• Public speaking to diverse groups in both large and small group settings. 

• Community outreach using a variety of forums including social networking, face to face, 

and printed media. 

• Fundraising 

• Volunteer workforce development. 

• Space management and construction in office, retail, and industrial settings, including 

medical facilities. 

• Knowledge of laboratory procedures, safety, and equipment. 

• Core computer skills including familiarity with GIS, Microsoft Office, Databases, and 

marketing via the internet and computer anchored presentations. 

 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOMPLISHMENTS 
 

• Built Commercial/Investment Real Estate firm closing an average of $15,000,000 in 

transactions annually from the ground up, ultimately selling to a national franchise. 

• Reviewed client investments, goals, and lifestyle needs 

• Counseled with clients to develop portfolio based investment strategies 

• Developed long and short-term investment programs for clients 

• Acted as client representative to interface with local officials and construction contractors on 

commercial projects including shopping centers, medical office, dialysis centers, industrial, office, 

multi-family, and development properties. 

• Marketed on national real estate platforms presenting properties to over 100 professionals at each 

meeting in instructional style settings using creative real estate transaction 

formats to expand both acquisition and disposition opportunities 

• Counseled novice realtors to assist in pursuit of CCIM designation. 

• Spearheaded the development of the Southern Gulf Coast District of the Alabama 

Chapter of CCIM working with both the state chapter and National CCIM 

• Volunteer with the Service Corps of Retired Executives, Job Seekers, Area Agency on 

Aging, and other local agencies. 
 

 
 

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY 
 

2008-current La Scala Real Estate Investments, LLC- Owner, Broker 

80

mailto:Lyn@bellsouth.net


2000- 2008 Mitchell Realty Group, Inc.- Broker, Owner, President 

 
1998-2000 Century 21 Long Mountain Realty-Sales Associate 

 
1996-1998 Prudential Georgia Realty-Sales Associate 

 
1989-1995 Mobile County Public Schools- Science Instructor 

From 1991-1995, I was a member of the Instructional Team serving the 

magnet school system, specifically in the Science Department. Working 

in the team environment, I developed curriculum and teaching models 

that were extended to schools throughout Mobile, the State, and school 

districts both nationally and internationally. Teacher of the Year 1991 

 
EDUCATION: 

 
AdjusterPro Insurance Adjuster/Xactimate Training 

 
CCIM Institute CCIM Designee 

Commercial Real Estate 

 
University of South Alabama, Alabama BS-Science Education 

 
 
 

Burlington College, New Jersey AAS-MTASCP 
 
 
 

Continuing Coursework at a number of colleges throughout the Southeast focusing on 

Science and Real Estate. 
 

 
 

PROFESSIONAL DESIGNATIONS: 

 
Alabama insurance Adjuster License #16802347 

Certified Commercial Investment Member (CCIM) designation awarded by 

CCIM Institute. 

 
Alabama and Georgia Teacher Certification in Grades K-12 (Not 

Current) American Society of Clinical Pathologists (inactive) 

AWARDS AND AFFILIATIONS: 

 
Mobile County Public Schools- Teacher of the Year 

Mobile County Public Schools- Science Teacher of the Year 

Kid’s Cottage- Board Member of Charitable Foundation serving Children of Gilmer 

County, Pickens County, and Fannin County, Georgia. 

Gilmer County, Georgia Lion’s Club 

Gilmer County Georgia Builder’s and Developers Association 

Gilmer County Georgia Chamber of Commerce 

North Georgia Domestic Violence Task Force- Board Member 

Alabama Senior Citizen's  Hall of Fame -2010 Inductee 

 

81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MAYOR'S REPORT 

 
 

NOTES: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
  
 
 
 
 

103



104



105



106



107



108



109



CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
NOTES:                                                              
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 
                                                                    

                                                                    
DEPARTMENT HEAD’S COMMENTS  

 
                                                                   
 
                                                                   
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 

                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 
      
 
 
 
 

110



 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
RESOLUTIONS, ORDINANCES, ORDERS & OTHER BUSINESS 

 
NOTES: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                   
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
 
COUNCIL COMMENTS: 
 
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
                                                                    
 
 
 
 

111



RESOLUTION 2012-99 
 

SERVICE AGREEMENT BETWEEN: 
BALDWIN COUNTY AND THE  CITY OF DAPHNE 

 
WHEREAS, the CITY is a municipal corporation organized under the laws of the State of 
Alabama; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the  BALDWIN  COUNTY  COMMISSION  (hereinafter  referred  to  as 
“COUNTY”) is the honorable county governing body of Baldwin County, Alabama; and 

 
WHEREAS, Fiber installation has been approved for designated City properties; and 
 
WHEREAS,  one  of  the  public  purposes  of  the  CITY  is  to  serve  the  citizens  and 
taxpayers of the City of Daphne in an efficient and responsible manner; and 
 
WHEREAS, the COUNTY recognizes the public purposes the CITY accomplishes and further 
related to said fulfillment of the CITY’s public purposes, said municipal corporation has 
requested certain services relative to communications information systems and fiber optic 
networks; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Baldwin County Communications and Information System Department (“CIS”), 
a department of the COUNTY, has the knowledge, ability and availability to offer services 
relative to communication information systems and fiber optic networks, as more specifically 
detailed herein, to the CITY; and 
 
WHEREAS, providing such services by COUNTY to the CITY will provide, among other things, 
the enhancement of data sharing and collaborative efforts among the Parties; and 
 
WHEREAS, the COUNTY has determined that providing such services to the CITY serves a 
public purpose and enhances the public good and wellbeing for all citizens of Baldwin County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 
ALABAMA that the Mayor is hereby authorized to execute the Service Agreement with Baldwin 
County on behalf of the City of Daphne.  
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Daphne, Alabama, 
this   ____     day of  ________________    , 2012. 
 
                                                                    
     

_________________________________ 
                                                                       Bailey Yelding, Jr., Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, Interim City Clerk 

112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



CITY OF DAPHNE 

RESOLUTION 2012-100 

ALDOT: Improvements Made on I-10 Within the City Limits of Daphne, Alabama 
Project Number: IM-IO10(329) Resurfacing I-10 from East End of the Bayway 

Bridge to East of SR-59 in Baldwin County 

WHEREAS, the City of Daphne, Alabama (hereinafter at times referred to as City) is desirous of 

having certain improvements made on 1-10 within the City Limits of Daphne, in accordance with plans 

prepared by the Alabama Department of Transportation and designated as Project Number IM-IO10(329), 

Resurfacing 1-10 from east end of the Bayway Bridge to east of SR-59 in Baldwin County. 

WHEREAS, The Alabama Department of Transportation is now or may later be desirous of 

receiving Federal Aid for improvement of said highway; and 

WHEREAS, The Federal Highway Administration, an agency of the United States of America, 

will not participate in any funding for the construction of said project until and unless the City of Daphne 

will agree to certain requirements of the Federal Highway Administration. The City of Daphne for the 

purpose of complying with requirements of the Federal Highway Administration in regard to its funding 

of improvements of the type and kind in this agreement provided for does hereby pass and adopts the 

following resolution: No parking will be allowed within the project limits. 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of Daphne that the plans of said project including 

alignment, profile, grades, typical sections and paving layouts as submitted to this City and which are 

now on file in the office of the City Clerk are hereby approved and that the location of said project as 

staked out by the Alabama Department of Transportation and as shown by said plans referred to are 

hereby approved and the Alabama Department of Transportation, in cooperation with the Federal 

Highway Administration, is hereby authorized to proceed with the grading, draining, paving, and 

otherwise improving and construction of said project in accordance with said plans.  

The City by and through its Council hereby grants to the Alabama Department of Transportation 

the full use of and access to the dedicated widths of any existing streets for the construction of said 

project and hereby agrees to permit and allow the Alabama Department of Transportation to close and 

barricade the said project and intersecting streets for as long as necessary while the said project is being 

graded, drained, paved, and otherwise improved, and hereby agrees that the use of any street or highway 

for parking within an interchange area will not at any time be permitted.  

The City hereby further agrees to adopt or pass such legally effective ordinances and/or laws as 

will permanently barricade and/or relocate certain intersecting streets as required by the State and to 

permanently deny or limit access at certain locations as required by the State along said improvements, all 

of which are more specifically stated as follows: No parking will be allowed within the project limits. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the City, that for and in consideration of the Alabama 

Department of Transportation in cooperation with the Federal Highway Administration, constructing said 

highway and/routing traffic along the same through the City over said project, such City hereby agrees 

with the Alabama Department of Transportation and for the benefit of the Federal Highway 

Administration, that on the above mentioned project the City will not in the future permit encroachments 

upon the right of way; nor will it pass any ordinances or laws fixing a speed limit contrary to those limits 

provided for in Title 32, Chapter 5, Code of Alabama 1975, as amended, and other laws of Alabama; nor 

will it permit other than parallel parking in areas where parking is permitted; nor will it allow the placing 

of any informational, regulatory, or warning signs, signals, median crossover, curb and pavement or other  

142



RESOLUTION 2012-100                    ALDOT / RESURFACE I-10                             PAGE   2 

markings, and traffic signals without written approval of the Alabama Department of Transportation and 

the Federal Highway Administration, of the location, form and character of such installations. The traffic 

control devices and signs installed during construction, and those installed after completion of this project 

shall be in accordance with the latest edition of the national Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices 

and accepted standards adopted by the Alabama Department of Transportation of the State of Alabama 

and by the Federal Highway Administration. The City further agrees that subsequent traffic control 

devices deemed necessary by it in keeping with applicable statutes, rules and regulations to promote the 

safe and efficient utilization of the highway under the authority of Title 32, Chapter 5, Code of Alabama 

1975, and all other applicable laws of Alabama, shall be subject to and must have the approval of the 

Alabama Department of Transportation of the State of Alabama and of the Federal Highway 

Administration, prior to installation and the City further agrees that it will enforce traffic and control the 

same under the provisions of Title 32, Chapter 5, Code of Alabama 1975, and other applicable laws of 

Alabama. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by this Council:  

1. That the City agrees to perform all maintenance on crossroads, service drives, or relocated roads 

that are not designated Federal or State highways that are in the jurisdiction of the City.  

It is understood and agreed that no changes in this Resolution or Agreement shall in the future be 

made without having obtained the prior approval of the Federal Highway Administration. 

THIS RESOLUTION PASSED, ADOPTED, AND APPROVED this the           day of            , 

2012. 

 

       

      ____________________________________ 

      Bailey Yelding, Jr., Mayor 

 

       

ATTEST 

 

 

        

Rebecca A. Hayes, Interim City Clerk   

      

I, the undersigned, Clerk of the City of Daphne do hereby certify that the above and foregoing is a 

true and correct copy of a resolution duly and lawfully adopted by the Council, of the foregoing City, at 

its regular meeting held on the  21
st
 day of May, 2012, which resolution is on file in the office of the City 

Clerk. 

Given under my hand and the official seal of such City this     day of   

 , 2012. 

             

       Rebecca A. Hayes, Interim City Clerk 

143



144



145



146



147



CITY OF DAPHNE 

ORDINANCE 2012 –71 
 

AN ORDINANCE CONSENTING TO THE SALE BY THE UTILITIES BOARD OF THE 

CITY OF DAPHNE OF CERTAIN PERSONAL PROPERTY SURPLUS 

WHEREAS, the Utilities Board of the City of Daphne (“Daphne Utilities”) is required to 

receive the consent of the City of Daphne before it sells property under the provisions of Ala. 

Code § 11-50-314(a)(10); and 

WHEREAS, the management of Daphne Utilities has determined that it is in the best 

interest of Daphne Utilities to sell the personal property described on Exhibit “A”; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of Daphne Utilities has approved the sale of the 

personal property described on Exhibit “A”. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that the City Council of the City of Daphne 

does hereby consent to the sale by Daphne Utilities of the personal property described on Exhibit 

“A”. 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAPHNE, 

ALABAMA on this _____day of ___________, 2012. 

  

        

       ___________________________________ 

Bailey Yelding, Jr., 

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________________ 

Rebecca A. Hayes, 

Interim City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

148



 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

 

DEPARTMENT 

TRUCK 

# YEAR MAKE & MODEL TAG # VIN 

21 - WATQUAL  78 1996 FORD F-150 6181 2FTEF15N6TCA49134 

40 - WWTP  69 1996 FORD TAURUS GL 6101 1FALP52U1TA209466 

50 - METER  16 2000 DODGE DAKOTA 8416 1B7FL26X1YS779572 

70 - LINE 
LOCATES 66 1995 FORD F-150 5660 1FTEF15N3SNA78891 

50 - METER  67 1995 FORD F-150 5659 1FTEF15N1SNA78890 

30 - GAS   63 1993 FORD F-150 5062 1FTDF15N5PNA67748 

30 - GAS   68 1995 FORD F-350 5798 1FDHF37H1SEA62457 

30 - GAS   79 1996 DODGE DAKOTA 6191 1B7FL26XOTS672490 

41 - WWFS 84 1997 CHEVY S - 10 6567 1GCCS19X7V8150922 

 

 

149



ORDINANCE 2012-72 
 
 

Sidewalk Improvements for FY2013 
 
WHEREAS, the Fiscal Year 2013 Budget is being considered by the City Council; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, prior to the adoption of the Fiscal Year 2013 budget, the City Council 
has determined that certain appropriations are required and should be approved 
and made a part of the Fiscal Year 2013 budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, certain sidewalk installations are needed for safe passage along City 
streets for the following locations: 

 Wilson Avenue-Northside US Hwy 98 to Watts Lane 
 CR 64 – Southside Beverly Street to Essex Street 
 Gregor Street, Historic Malbis – St Barbara to back alley 
 Whispering Pines – Northside Brookhaven to Stratford Glen 
 US Hwy 98 – Westside Service Road to D’Olive Creek 
 Daphmont – Warren Drive 
 Daphmont – Cedar Drive 
 Daphmont – Maple Drive 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Daphne, 
Alabama, that funds in the amount of $74,304.36 from the Capital Reserve Fund 
are hereby appropriated and made a part of the Fiscal Year 2013 budget for  1.5 
miles of Sidewalk Improvements.   
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DAPHNE, ALABAMA, THIS               day of                      , 2012. 
 

                                                                                                                                                     
 
_________________________________ 

                                                                       Bailey Yelding, Jr., Mayor 
          
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Rebecca A. Hayes, Interim City Clerk 

150


	AGENDA
	City Roll Call
	Council Minutes - December 3
	Council Work Session Minutes - December 10
	Reporting of Standing Committees
	Finance Minutes
	Backup to Finance Minutes
	Buildings & Property Minutes Oct 2012
	Building & Property Minutes -  Dec 2012
	Public Works MINUTES
	Report of Special Boards
	IDB REsume - Lynn Mitchell 
	Set PH Info
	Mayors Report
	Jubilee Festival Request
	ABC License - Record Bar
	City Attorneys and Department Head Report
	RESOLUTION - ORDINANCES - DIVIDER PAGE
	2012-99 - RES - County Fiber Agreement w-City-auth Mayor to sign
	Backup to 2012-99 - RES
	2012-100 - RES - ALDOT - Resurface I-10
	Backup to 2012-100 - RES
	01
	Saved Views
	PRJNUM
	BRIDGE
	EQUATE
	LENGTH
	PIDBOX
	PRELIM
	DESIGN
	CODE


	04
	05
	06

	2012-71 - ORD - DUB Salvage Sale Resolution
	2012-72 - ORD - Sidewalks Improvements FY13



